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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China Trends Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to
present you the audited results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the“Group”) for the year ended 31December 2021.

 

 

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$177,820,000 (2020: approximately 

HK$166,723,000), representing an increase of approximately 6.66% as compared to that of previous year. All the revenue made 

from the Company’s trading business.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a cost of sales of approximately HK$172,662,000 (2020:
approximately HK$161,952,000), representing an increase of approximately 6.61% as compared to that of previous year.

The Group’s gross profit increased to approximately HK$5,158,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately 

HK$4,771,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing an increase of approximately 8.11% as compared to that of 
previous year.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s other income and gains or loss, net recorded approximately 

HK$4,802,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,886,000), representing an increase of approximately 66.39% as compared to that of 
previous year.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$4,236,000 (2020:
approximately HK$4,088,000), representing an increase of approximately 3.62% as compared to that of previous year.

The Group’s trading business has been operating in a healthy and stable manner for more than 10 years since 2009. Compared 

with the year ended 31 December 2020, both operating revenue and gross profit have achieved continuing growth for the year 

ended 31 December 2021.

The adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$3,614,000 after deducting non-recurring 

expenses of approximately HK$7,783,000, derived mainly from the litigation fee against Asia Television Limited, litigation fee for 

judicial review for listing status resumption, share-based payments, loss on disposal of subsidiaries, impairment loss on other 

receivables, other legal fee and share of loss of an associate, representing an improvement of approximately 100.44% as 

compared to net profit of approximately HK$1,803,000 of previous year.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement the consolidated financial results presented in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘’HKFRSs’’), the
Groupuses the followingmeasures defined as Non-GAAP financialmeasures:

Non-GAAP loss is loss excluding litigation fee against Asia Television Limited, litigation fee for judicial review for listing status
resumption, share-based payments, loss on disposal of subsidiaries, impairment loss on other receivables and other legal fee.

The presentation of these Non-GAAP financial measures is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the
financial information prepared and presented in accordance with HKFRSs. For more information on this Non-GAAP financial
measures, please see the table captioned ‘’Unaudited reconciliations of Non-GAAP measures to the most comparable HKFRS
measures’’ set forth below.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
The Group believes that these Non-GAAP financial measures provide meaningful supplemental information regarding its
performance and liquidity by excluding litigation fee against Asia Television Limited, litigation fee for judicial review for listing status
resumption, share-based payments, loss on disposal of subsidiaries, impairment loss on other receivables and other legal fee that
are non-recurring expenses.

The Group believes that both management and investors benefit from referring to these Non-GAAP financial measures in assessing
its performance and when planning and forecasting future periods. These Non-GAAP financial measures also facilitate
management’s internal comparisons to the Group’s historical performance and liquidity.

The Group believes these Non-GAAP financial measures are useful to investors in allowing for greater transparency with respect to
supplemental information used by management in its financial and operational decision making. A limitation of using Non-GAAP
profit/loss is that these Non-GAAP measures exclude Asia Television Limited, litigation fee for judicial review for listing status
resumption, share-based payments, loss on disposal of subsidiaries, impairment loss on other receivables and other legal fee that
may not continue to be in the foreseeable future recurring expenses in our business. Management compensates for these
limitations by providing specific information regarding the amounts excluded from each Non-GAAP measure.

Unaudited Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures to The Most Comparable HKFRS Measures

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is principally engaged in (i) trading of electronic technology
and related products, and (ii) media and e-commerce and media advertising services.

On 1 March 2021, the Company entered into a cooperation agreement (“Cooperation Agreement”) with創新未來有限公司

（“Innovation Future”), Mr. Wong Wai Man ("Mr. Wong”) and Ms. Lau Nga Sze so as to expand the business scale of the Company.

For the year ended 31
December 2021

HK$’000

For the year ended 31
December 2020

HK$’000
Loss for the year (4,169) (4,039)

Litigation fee against Asia Television Limited 958 3,160
Litigation fee for judicial review for listing status
resumption

6,716 1,357

Share-based payments - 366
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - 25
Impairment loss on other receivables - 252
Other legal fee 109 682
Non-GAAP net profit 3,614 1,803
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, any electronic products with innovative materials or consumer products that have been
approved by the Company and have overseas markets (in countries or regions other than Mainland China) can be developed and
produced by Innovation Future. Innovation Future is responsible for the sales of the above-mentioned products in the overseas
market, and the Company is responsible for arranging sales in the Mainland China market (only sell to companies designated or
approved by the Company). No matter which market it is sold to, Innovation Future guarantees that the gross margin of sales will
not be less than 10%, and for the first year of sales, the total sales revenue will not be less than HK$ 50 million, and after that the
total sales revenue every year will not be less than HK$100 million.

On 16 August 2021, the Company received a notice from Mr. Wong: Innovative Future and the Company signed a cooperation
agreement on 1 March 2021. After in-depth communication between the two parties, it is believed that the Company has now
suspended trading and is temporarily unable to issue shares for acquisition purposes. Therefore, Innovation Future proposed to
withdraw the Cooperation Agreement, and neither party will be held accountable for each other.

In view of the fact that the Company will soon be delisted by the Stock Exchange, it is true that it cannot issue shares in the future
to acquire the remaining 25% of the shares of Innovation Future. The Company intends to agree to Mr. Wong’s request.

UPDATE ON CANCELLATION OF LISTING STATUS

On 29 December 2020, the Company lodged an appeal (Appeal No. CACV 652/2020) against the Judgement of the Judicial Review in
the High Court of Hong Kong. The grounds for the Appeal include but not limited to:

Ground 1: GEM Listing Review Committee’s Decision irrational and Wednesbury unreasonable; wrong test applied

Ground 2: Procedural unfairness, and inadequate reasons

Ground 3: Any deference impermissible on matters of law

On 8 March 2021, the Company submitted a resumption proposal to the Stock Exchange.

On 27 April 2021, the Company submitted to the Stock Exchange a request for a review of the Delisting Decision by the GEM Listing
Review Committee pursuant to Rule 4.06(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 8 July 2021, the Company received a judgment (“Judgment”) from the Hong Kong Court of Appeal (“Court of Appeal”).
According to the Judgment, the Court of Appeal dismissed the Company’s appeal and ordered the Company to pay the costs of the
Stock Exchange . The Court of Appeal reiterated the provisions of Rule 17.26 of the GEM Listing Rules: There must be sufficient
business operations and assets of considerable value to support its operations before its securities can continue to be listed, and
this is a qualitative test. Whether it meets the standard of Rule 17.26 of the GEM Listing Rules is the professional judgment of the
members of the Stock Exchange.

The Company does not agree with the conclusion made by the Court of Appeal in the Judgement that the professional judgment of
the members of the Stock Exchange could determine the standard required under Rule 17.26 of the GEM Listing Rules. This is
because the Stock Exchange has recognized that the Company has met this standard for 10 years, but no longer agrees to it in the
11th year. Obviously, the Stock Exchange has adopted a dual-standard approach, which did not live up to the expectations of public
shareholders. Such practice is unfair and unreasonable.

On 26 July 2021, to protect the Company and its shareholder’s rights and interests, the Company appeal to the Court of Final
Appeal against the Judgement of the Court of Appeal.

On 10 August 2021, the GEM Listing Review Committee notified the Company that it decided to uphold the GEM Listing
Committee's Delisting Decision (the “LRC Decision”). The Company disagrees with the LRC Decision and will file an application for
leave to apply for judicial review against the LRC Decision in the High Court of Hong Kong.

On 11 August 2021, the Company received a notice from the Stock Exchange that the listing of the Company's shares will be
cancelled with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 23 August 2021.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
On 16 August 2021, the Company engaged Senior Counsel to apply for leave to commence judicial review action against the
delisting decision and seek an urgent injunction order from the High Court of Hong Kong.

The general reasons for the Company’s application are: The Stock Exchange’s delisting decision lacks grounds; Neither the delisting
decision has taken into account the Company’s financial condition nor consider all the relevant factors that should be considered,
and the reasons given in the delisting decision were not sufficient. If the Company finally succeeds in the judicial review action, it is
not allowed to be relisted in The Stock Exchange. The delisting has affected the Company's contract entered with Innovative Future,
as well as the standby facility and also affected the interests of the minority shareholders of the Company, etc. Regrettably, the
High Court of Hong Kong did not accept the above grounds raised by the Company and rejected the Company's applications.

On 11 November 2021, the Company received a judgement issued on 10 November 2021 by the Court of Appeal. The result is as
below: In relation to the appeal to the Court of Final Appeal filed by the Company on 26 July 2021 for judicial review, the Court of
Appeal refused to grant leave to appeal on the basis that the ground is thin.

On 26 April 2022, the Company received an order by the Hong Kong Court of Final Appeal and the Court of Final Appeal believes
that: The Company's application for appeal to the Hong Kong Court of Final Appeal is rejected on the basis that there is no
reasonable ground for granting leave to appeal.

The Company is not satisfied with the above judgement. Currently, the Company is engaging its lawyer to review the judgement
and will pursue all legal measures to protect the interests of the shareholders. On the other hand, the Company will continue to
acquire the shares of the other listed companies by way of acquisition and merger. If succeeded, the shares will be distributed to all
shareholders to reduce the loss of the shareholders.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The trading business of the Group has been developing steadily since 2009 and will have better development in the future. Even
though it is affected by many external factors such as the global pandemic, the continuous Sino-US Trade War, and the decision of
the Stock Exchange to cancel the listing status of the Company, a promising development is that the Group's business still achieved
a continuing performance improvement.

The Group will continue to develop media and e-commerce and media advertising business in Mainland China. The Company’s
Directors and management will dedicate their best effort to lead the Group to strive for the best interests for its shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

 
   

 
 

 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FLUCTUATION IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE

  

 

 

 

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements. The share capital of the Group comprised only ordinary shares as at 31 December 2021.

 

 

TheGroup had transactional currency exposures as the sales and purchases of the Groupweremainly transacted in Renminbi. As at 31
December 2021, substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the Group were current in nature, and the amount were principally
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars, so foreign exchange risk was considered to beminimal.

EMPLOYEES

 

 

 

As at 31 December 2021, there were a total of 27 (2020: 27) staff employed by the Group including full time and part-time staff
.The staff costs including Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approximately HK$1,652,000 (202

0:HK$1,637,000) . The total amount comprised salaries, wages and allowance, medical and insurance coverage, pension scheme  

contributions, discretionary bonus and share-based payments. The Company ensured that its employees were remunerated accor
ding to the prevailing manpower market condition, and individual performance with its remuneration policies reviewed on a
regular basis.

CHARGE, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had NIL under operating lease (2020: NIL) and there were no charges on any assets of the
Group. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no capital commitments (2020: HK$15,000,000). The Group did not have any
contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting year. Except for to the operating lease commitments and capital commitments, the
Group and the Company had no other commitments to the financial statements.

陈欣琼
The Group continued to finance its operation and capital expenditure through internally generated fund, and support 
certain product solutions development and business expansion. As at 31 December 2021, the Group maintained a 
healthy liquidity position, and total cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$116,739,000 
(2020:HK$28,017,000) with no pledged deposit placed in banks for securing any borrowings or bank facilities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The subsidiaries of the Group are principally engaged in (i) trading of
electronic technology and related products, and (ii) media and e-commerce and media advertising services.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 17 to 20. The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of movements in the Company’s share options during the year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 100% of the total sales for the year and sales to
the largest customer included therein accounted for 100%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 89.0%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein accounted for 41.6%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.



Mr. Xiang Xin (“Mr. Xiang”), born in 1963, is the Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer (“Chief Executive Officer”) of the 

Company. Mr. Xiang once worked in a number of large organizations in the PRC and engaged in technology project management 

and corporate strategy research for a long time. Mr. Xiang also possesses many years of experience in project investment and
information technology businesses.Mr.Xiang holds a bachelor’ s degree  in science and a masters degree in engineering 
from Nanjing University of Science & Technology. Xiang is a chairman of China Technology Education Trust Association.

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Chan Cheong Yee and Mr. Wong Chung Kin, Quentin 
shall retire by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company. Mr. Chan Cheong Yee and Mr. Wong Chung Kin, offer themselves
 for reelection at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company, Ms. Chi Yee Shan Esa shall retire at the general 
meeting of the Company. Ms. Chi Yee Shan Esa, being eligible, offer herself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors are not appointed for specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. None of the 

Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has service contract with the Company which is 

not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTOR BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Xiang Xin
Ms. Chi Yee Shan Esa (Appointed on 6 October 2021)

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Yicheng
Mr. Wong Chung Kin, Quentin
Ms. Qin Han

Alternate Directors:
Ms. Kung Ching

According to Article 87(1), one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In addition, according to
Article 86(3), any Director appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for reelection.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Ms. Chi Yee Shan, Esa (“Ms. Chi”), born in 1985                 
received her bachelor degree of commerce in accounting from the Hong Kong ShueYan University and master degree of corporate
governance from The Open University of Hong Kong. Ms. Chi is currently a practicing
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants with over ten years experience in the accounting and auditing 

field. Ms. Chi served as the finance manager of Link Holdings Limited that is a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock 

code: 8237.hk), and as a financial controller and company secretary in a private company in Hong Kong. Currently, Ms. Chi acts as a 

non-executive director of China Innovation Investment Limited, which is a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
Ms. Chi joined the Company in October 2021, and acted as the Company Secretary of the Company since 1 January 2022.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), born in 1964, holds a bachelor degree of science majoring in finance and he is a registered and 

licensed person under the Securities and Futures Ordinance to carry on regulated activities in dealing in securities, advising on 

securities, dealing in futures contracts and undertaking asset management. Mr. Chan is currently the managing director of asset 

management of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited and has been in the financial and investment field for over 30 years. Mr.
Chan is directly involved in identifying investment opportunities, conducting due diligence, performing valuation, monitoring 

performance of investment portfolios and providing investment and divestment recommendations. Mr. Chan is an executive 

director of China Investment and Finance Group Limited, executive director of China Investment Development Limited, executive 

director of Capital VC Limited, executive director of China New Economy Fund Limited, an executive director of China Innovation 

Investment Limited and an executive director of Goldstone Investment Group Limited, which are listed on the main board 

respectively. Mr. Chan joined the Company in 14 February 2016.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Yicheng (“Mr. Chen”), born in 1954, received his degree in Chinese from South China Normal University. Mr. Chen is 

engaged in commercial and television media industry in Mainland China for 40 years, and he has extensive experience in 

commercial operation of television media. Mr. Chen is currently a member of Guangdong TV Artists’ Association and member of 
Guangdong Old Correspondents Association. Mr. Chen joined the Company on 9 July 2012.

Mr. Wong Chung Kin, Quentin (“Mr. Wong”), born in 1971, is the founder and the sole proprietor of Quentin Wong & Co. CPA 

Limited. From December 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Wong served as an independent non-executive director of China Investment Fund 

Company Limited (currently known as China Investment Fund International Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 612), a company listed 

on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since March 2012, Mr. Wong served as an independent non-executive director of Value 

Convergence Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 821), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since December 2018,
Mr. Wong served as an independent non-executive director of Creative Enterprise Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3992), a company 

listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting and financial management from 

the University of Essex in July 1996. He obtained a Master of Science degree in internal auditing and management from The City 

University, London, in July 1998. Mr. Wong has been a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 

Wales, a fellow member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors,
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered 

Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong joined the Company on 4 November 2016.

 

 

 

Mr. Xiang is currently a chairman of the board of director, chief executive officer and executive director of  China Innovation       
Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Xiang joined the Company
on 25 February 2008.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Ms. Qin Han (“Ms. Qin”), born in 1983, holds bachelor’s degree in Engineering Management from Wuhan University, master’s
degree in Management Science and Engineering from Wuhan University, and PhD in Industrial and Manufacturing Systems 

Engineering from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Qin has served as the director of a family fund, the Chief Investment Officer of 
Shen Zhen Zhongxiang Capital Management Limited and the Vice President of Asia Fortune Capital Group Limited etc, and has rich
 experience in areas such as coordination and communication, strategic planning, organizational management, and corporate
 culture. Ms. Qin joined the Company on 18 February 2020.

ALTERNATE DIRECTOR

Ms. Kung Ching (“Ms. Kung”), born in 1969, graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology and holds a MBA degree
from the University of South Australia. Ms. Kung once worked for large organizations in China, such as China National Defense
Science and Technology Information Centre and CITIC International Cooperation Limited, engaged in technology management and
economic management for many years. Ms. Kung is the spouse of Mr. Xiang, and is an alternate director to Mr. Xiang in China
Innovation Investment Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Kung joined the Company on 8
October 2012.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with the Company and they are not appointed for a
specific term. Their appointment will be subject to retirement and re-election by the shareholders pursuant to the articles of
association of the Company.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to the authority granted by the shareholders of the Company to the Board to fix their
remuneration or shareholders’ approval at general meetings and monitored by the remuneration committee on a continuous basis.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s remuneration committee with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from those details in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, no Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Apart from those details in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries were entered into or
existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “ Audit Committee” ) on 16 July 2002. The Audit Committee currently
comprises all three independent non-executive Directors of the Company, Mr. Wong Chung Kin, Quentin as the chairman, Ms. Qin
Han and Mr. Chen Yicheng as the members.

The Audit Committee has examined the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries and
discussed with the management its internal controls and accounts. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited.

A resolution for the re-appointment of McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited as auditors of the Company until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The pandemic lasted for more than two years, pandemic prevention (including selected pandemic prevention products) becomes
the Company’s key issue to perform social responsibility.

On 17 September 2021, the Company entrusted the China Technology Education Trust Association to donate 1000 pieces of
“automatic alcohol disinfection sprayer” to the Federation of HK Jiangsu Community Organizations and the market value represents
approximately HK$170,000.

On 23 May 2022, our Company donated 1000 pieces of K5PRO disinfection sprayer to HK Jiangsu Volunteer Group and the market
value represents approximately HK$100,000.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Xiang Xin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 May 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA TRENDS HOLDINGS LIMITED
中國趨勢控股有限公司
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Trends Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 17 to 69,which comprise the consolidated statement of financial pos
ition as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated sta
tement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated fin
ancial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key
audit matter we identified is impairment assessment of trade receivables.

Impairment Assessment of Trade Receivables

Refer to Notes 16 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

In assessing the loss allowance made under the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model, the management of the Group used judgements
and estimates to determine the historical credit loss experience and forward-looking information specific to the debtors and their
economic environments. The impairment assessment on trade receivables is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of approximately HK$54,736,000 as at 31 December 2021 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Evaluating the design and effectiveness of impairment assessment process adopted by the Group;

- Assessing the appropriateness of the expected credit losses provisioning methodology;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with the customers;

- Testing the accuracy of the ageing of the debts;

- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers by discussion with management, obtaining settlement profile of the customers
and collaborated by checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all of the information included in the
Company’s annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in
doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chan Chun Sing
Audit Engagement Director
Practicing Certificate Number P05537
24/F, Siu On Centre,
188 Lockhart Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, 27 May 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

REVENUE 5 177,820 166,723
Cost of sales (172,662) (161,952)

Gross profit 5,158 4,771
Other income and gains or losses, net 5 4,802 2,886
Impairment loss on other receivables – (252)
Administrative and other operating expenses (13,923) (11,257)
Finance costs 6 (206) (187)

LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (4,169) (4,039)
Income tax expense 9 – –

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (4,169) (4,039)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 2,827 3,587

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR (1,342) (452)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of the Company (4,236) (4,088)
Non-controlling interests 67 49

(4,169) (4,039)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of the Company (1,409) (501)
Non-controlling interests 67 49

(1,342) (452)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2021

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 May 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Xiang Xin Chan Cheong Yee
Director Director

Notes

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 11 65 19
Right-of-use assets 12 3,046 5,197
Intangible assets 13 – –
Other non-current asset 14 – 15,000

Total non-current assets 3,111 20,216
CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables 16 54,736 48,182
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 42,255 24,252
Cash and bank balances 18 116,739 28,017

Total current assets 213,730 100,451
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 676 605
Amount due to a shareholder 19
Lease liabilities

20

99,328
2,321

–
2,165

Total current liabilities 102,325 2,770

Net current assets
111,405 97,681

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
114,516 117,897

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Lease liabilities 20 837 3,102

NET ASSETS
113,679 114,795

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 21 427,342 427,161
Other reserves 23 (315,305) (313,941)

112,037 113,220
Non-controlling interests 1,642 1,575

TOTAL EQUITY
113,679 114,795
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company

Issued
capital

Share
premium

Share
option
reserve

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

Special
reserve

Capital
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

Non-
controlling
interests

Total
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 427,161 298,065 10,448 643 11,157 (1,638) (632,481) 113,355 1,526 114,881

Total comprehensive income
(expenses) for the year – – – 3,587 – – (4,088) (501) 49 (452)

Share-based payments – – 366 – – – – 366 – 366
Lapse of share options – – (726) – – – 726 – – –

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

427,161 298,065 10,088 4,230 11,157 (1,638) (635,843) 113,220 1,575 114,795

Total comprehensive income
(expenses) for the year

Exercise of bonus warrants
–

181
–

45
–
–

2,827
–

–
–

–
–

(4,236)
–

(1,409)
226

67
–

(1,342)
226

At 31 December 2021 427,342 298,110 10,088 7,057 11,157 (1,638) (640,079) 112,037 1,642 113,679



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax (4,169) (4,039)
Adjustment for:
Finance costs 206 187
Interest income (139) (121)
Surcharge income (3,138) (2,919)
Share-based payments - 366
Impairment loss on other receivables - 252
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 98
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,227 1,842
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - 25

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (4,996) (4,309)
Change in trade receivables (4,973) 44
Change in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 936 10,082
Change in other payables and accruals 71 (8,587)
Change in amount due from shareholders 99,328 -

Cash used in operations 90,366 (2,770)
Interest on lease liabilities (206) (187)
Interest received 139 121

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities 90,299 (2,836)

Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal of subsidiaries - (890)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (68) (4)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (68) (894)

Cash flows from financing activity
Capital injection 226 -
Prepayment of principal of lease liabilities (2,195) (1,774)

Net cash flows used in financing activity (1,969) (1,774)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 88,262 (5,504)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 28,017 32,774
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 460 747

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 116,739 28,017

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Bank and cash balances 116,739 28,017

China Trends Holdings Limited20
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Trends Holdings Limited (the “ Company ” ) is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at Sinclair Group Centre, 3rd Floor Genesis Building, Genesis Close P.O. Box 498,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is situated at 26/F.,
No. 9 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The shares of the Company were listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 31 July 2002 and have been delisted with effect on 3 August
2021.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is principally engaged in (i) trading of electronic
technology and related products, and (ii) media and e-commerce and media advertising services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ( “HK$” ), which is different from the functional
currency of the Company of Renminbi (“RMB”).

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The HKICPA has issued a number of revised HKFRSs, which are generally effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021. The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first time for the current year’s consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The nature and impact of the amendments are described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform –
Phase 2

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate
(“IBOR”) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (“RFR”). The amendments include the following practical
expedients:

• A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by the reform, to be treated as
changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest;

• Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued; and

• Provide temporary reliefs to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when a RFR instrument is designated
as a hedge of a risk component.

These amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group intends to use the practical
expedients in future periods if they become applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. PPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not effective:

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company has a Board Diversity Policy whereby it recognizes and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It
endeavors to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The following tables further
illustrate the diversity of the Board members as of the date of this annual report:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below and are presented in Hong Kong dollars with all values rounding to the nearest
thousand except otherwise indicated.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and service.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction1

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use2
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture4

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 20213
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

∙ has power over the investee;

∙ is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

∙ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGU for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGU to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGU.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses and
recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards. Then,
impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds the
remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs which
relate directly to providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised as contract
costs are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of evaluating
impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses and
recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards. Then,
impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds the
remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs which
relate directly to providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised as contract
costs are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of evaluating
impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGU, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGU, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGU. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGU. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGU) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGU) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that standard.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office and computer equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops and office
furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, except for the right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment property are carried at fair value.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in consideration as if it were not a lease modification.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

∙ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

∙ the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”):

∙ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash
flows; and

∙ the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

∙ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

∙ on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

∙ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ ECL” ) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables and bank balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

∙ an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

∙ significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the debtor;

∙ existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

∙ an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

∙ an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.



30 China Trends Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 180 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about 

the following events:

a.

b.

c.

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation ; or

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

d.

e.

f.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counter party is in severe financial
 difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,for example,when the counterparty has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,or in the case of trade receivables,when the amounts are 
over two years past due, which ever occurs sooner.  Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement 
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off 
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables is considered on a collective basis taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

∙ Past-due status;

∙ Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

∙ External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’ s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where
the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority
will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income tax filings. If
it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is
not probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected
by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods
or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

∙ the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

∙ the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

∙ the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Other income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Other income is recognised whenever it is received or receivable.
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Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Retirement benefit and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-

market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share- based payments
reserve. For shares/share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based payments reserve will be transferred to other
reserve. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously recognised in share-based payments reserve will be transferred to other
reserve.
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Foreign currency translation

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of
that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates/joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign currency
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit
or loss.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgement that have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the Group’s financial statements.
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Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or
stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not
define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased
the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.

Key estimate uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are discussed below.

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based on the credit risk of
trade receivables. The amount of the impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of trade receivables and other receivables are approximately HK$54,736,000 (2020:
approximately HK$48,182,000) and approximately HK$31,503,000 (2020: approximately HK$12,183,000), respectively. No allowance
has been made on trade receivables and other receivables.

5. CREVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

Revenue represents the fair value of amount received and receivable by the Group in respect of sales of electronic technology
products. The Group purchases and sells electronic technology products to the customers. Sales are recognised when control of the
products has transferred, being when these products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 60 to 180 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be
required. Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES, NET (Continued)

6. FINANCE COSTS

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging:

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Other income
Bank interest income 139 121
Government grants – 99
Surcharge income 3,138 2,919

3,277 3,139

Gains or losses, net
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries – (25)
Net exchange gains (losses) 1,525 (228)

1,525 (253)

4,802 2,886

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Interest on lease liabilities 206 187

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Cost of sales
Auditor’s remuneration
Employee benefits expenses (including directors’ remuneration):

– Wages, salaries and allowances

– Other benefits in kind

– Pension scheme contributions

– Share-based payments

Total employee benefits expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on other receivables

172,662
98

1,447
133
72
–

161,952
470

1,103
135
33
366

1,652 1,637

17
2,227

–

98
1,842
252



40 China Trends Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
8. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

a. Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Fees – –

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 628 638
Pension scheme contributions – –
Share-based payments – 366

628 1,004

628 1,004
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8. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

a. Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes Fees
HK$’000

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits

in kind
HK$’000

Pension
scheme

Contribution
HK$’000

Share-based
Payments
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Executive director:
Mr. Xiang Xin – 120 – – 120

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee – 120 – – 120
Ms. Chi Yee Shan Esa (v) – 28 – – 28

– 148 – – 148

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chen Yicheng – 120 – – 120
Mr.Wong Chung Kin Quentin – 120 – – 120
Ms. Qin Han – 120 – – 120

– 360 – – 360

– 628 – – 628

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes Fees
HK$’000

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits

in kind
HK$’000

Pension
scheme

Contribution
HK$’000

Share-based
Payments
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Executive director:
Mr. Xiang Xin – 120 – – 120
Mr. YipWing Ho (i) – 38 – – 38

– 158 – – 158

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (ii) – 120 – – 120

Independent non-executive directors:
Ms. An Jing (iii) – 16 – – 16
Mr. Chen Yicheng – 120 – – 120
Mr.Wong Chung Kin Quentin – 120 – – 120
Ms. Qin Han (iv) – 104 – 366 470

– 360 – 366 726

– 63
8

– 366 1,004
Note:

i. Mr. YipWing Ho resigned as the executive director on 24 April 2020.
ii. Mr. Chan Cheong Yee has been the executive director and was redesignated as a non-executive director on 1

December 2020.
iii. Ms. An Jing resigned as the independent non-executive director on 18 February 2020.
iv. Ms. Qin Han was appointed as the independent non-executive director on 18 February 2020.
v. Ms. Chi Yee Shan Esa was appointed as the non-executive director on 6 October 2021.
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8. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

a. Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

No emolument was paid to the director as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company; or as compensation for loss of
office during the reporting period (2020: Nil).

b. Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 25(i) to the consolidated financial statements, no other significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company and
other director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at a rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. Tax
arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. Under the Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC is 25% for both years.

No provision for taxation has been made since the Group has incurred tax loss for taxation purpose during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense for the year and the loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong profits
tax rate is as follows:

At 31 December 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$41,544,000 (2020: HK$41,291,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset (2020: HK$nil) has been recognised in respect of such tax losses, due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Loss before tax:

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions Net
effect of expenses not deductible and income not subject to tax
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised

Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate

(4,169) (4,039)

(688)
569

1,787
6

(1,674)

(666)
422

1,478
8

(1,242)

– –
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10. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year ended 31 December 2021

Leasehold
improvements

HK$’000

Furniture and
fixtures

HK$’000

Office and
computer
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2021 974 156 2,152 1,859 5,141

Addition 68 68
Exchange realignment – – 66 61 127

At 31 December 2021 974 156 2,286 1,920 5,336

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2021 974 156 2,148 1,844 5,122
Charge for the year 9 8 17
Exchange realignment – – 64 68 132

At 31 December 2021 974 156 2,221 1,920 5,271

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2021 – – 65 – 65
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Year ended 31 December 2020

Leasehold
improvements

HK$’000

Furniture and
fixtures

HK$’000

Office and
computer
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2020 974 155 2,115 1,779 5,023

Addition – – 4 – 4
Disposal of a subsidiary (note
29(a))

– – (51) – (51)

Exchange realignment – 1 84 80 165

At 31 December 2020 974 156 2,152 1,859 5,141

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2020 974 155 2,115 1,684 4,928
Charge for the year – – – 98 98
Disposal of a subsidiary (note
29(a))

– – (51) – (51)

Exchange realignment – 1 84 62 147

At 31 December 2020 974 156 2,148 1,844 5,122

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020 – – 4 15 19

Leased properties
HK$’000

As at 31 December 2021
Carrying amount 3,046

As at 31 December 2020
Carrying amount 5,197

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Additions to right-of-use assets –
Depreciation charge 2,227

For the year ended 31 December 2020
Additions to right-of-use assets 6,406

Depreciation charge 1,842



ANNUALREPORT 2021 45

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of three years, but
may have extension and termination options. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contracts are enforceable.

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$3,158,000 (2020: HK$5,267,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$3,046,000 (2020: HK$5,197,000) as at 31 December 2021. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Year ended 31 December 2021

Rights in sharing of
profit streams

from online
network operation

in internet cafes
HK$’000
(note (a))

Rights granted by
a mobile

location-based
service provider

HK$’000
(note (b))

Total
HK$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 482,794 19,485 502,279

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses

At 1 January 2021 and
31 December 2021 482,794 19,485 502,279

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 – – –
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

a. The rights (the “C Y Rights”) in sharing of profit streams (the “Profit Streams”) from online network operation in internet cafes
of approximately HK$482,794,000 represents the C Y Rights arising from a co-operation agreement (the “C Y Co-operation
Agreement”) entered into between a subsidiary of the Company and C Y Foundation Group Limited. Pursuant to the C Y Co-
operation Agreement, the Group is entitled to participate in the co-operation and share the Profits Streams for a period of 15
years.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the execution of the C Y Co-operation Agreement was interrupted. Due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams, an impairment loss of the C Y Rights of approximately HK$482,794,000 was
recognised in the consolidated financial statements for the same reporting period.

b. The rights granted by a mobile location-based service provider (the “Agent Rights”) to a subsidiary of the Company as an agent
of the products of the mobile location-based services provider in the PRC and the sole franchised dealer in overseas market.
During the year ended 31 December 2011, the execution of the project was interrupted. Due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams, an impairment loss of the Agent Rights of approximately HK$19,485,000 was recognised in the consolidated
financial statements for the same reporting period.

Year ended 31 December 2020

Rights in sharing of
profit streams

from online
network operation

in internet cafes
HK$’000
(note (a))

Rights granted by
a mobile

location-based
service provider

HK$’000
(note (b))

Total
HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2020 

Accumulated amortisation and

482,794 19,485 502,279

impairment losses 

At 1 January 2020 and
31 December 2020 

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020

482,794 19,485 502,279

– – –
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14. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET
As at 31 December 2020, the amount represented the prepayment paid for the acquisition of rights of use and distribution
rights of contents copyright of “Viva Reading” in 2018 at a consideration of HK$30,000,000. As at 31 December 2020, 50% of the
consideration, amounting to HK$15,000,000 was paid. The remaining consideration of HK$15,000,000 is disclosed as capital
commitment in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

As stated in the agreement, the vendor would cooperate with the Company and its media and e-commerce platform, ensuring
that the media and e-commerce platform can obtain content and links of the “Viva Reading” platform, and authorising the
media and e-commerce platform the rights of use and distribution. However, as at 31 December 2020, the platform was still in
development and not ready to use due to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Company terminated the agreement as the media and e-commerce platform could not be delivered by the vendor. Full amount
of paid consideration of HK$15,000,000 was refunded to the Company.

15. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

* The English name is for identification only

Note:
(a) The subsidiary is registered as a sino-foreign investment enterprise under the PRC laws.

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Issued and paid
up capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable
to the Company Principal activities

2021 2020

Directly held:

Boss Systems Limited BVI 500 ordinary shares
of

US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

China Trends Technologies
Limited

Hong Kong HK$1
ordinary share

100% 100% Trading of electronic
equipment,
components and
LCD/LED products

Nopo International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
ordinary share

100% 100% Investment holding

Boss Dream (China) Limited*
博思夢想（中國）有限公司
(“Boss China”) (Note a)

PRC RMB200,000,000 99% 99% Trading of electronic
equipment,
components and
LCD/LED products
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16. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with other customers are mainly on credit. The credit terms generally range from 60 to 180 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. For new customers, payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” to provide for expected credit losses using the
lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward
looking information. Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables is set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Trade receivables 54,736 48,182

Less: allowance for expected credit losses – –

Carrying amount 54,736 48,182

Current

Over 30
days past

due

Over 60
days past

due

Over 120
days past

due
Total

At 31 December 2021
Receivable amount (HK$’000) 54,736 – – – 54,736
Allowance for expected

credit losses (HK$’000) – – – – –

At 31 December 2020
Receivable amount (HK$’000) 48,182 – – – 48,182
Allowance for expected

credit losses (HK$’000) – – – – –
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17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB, USD and HK$ was RMB
5,675,000 (2020: RMB 6,683,000) (equivalent to approximately HK$6,962,000 (2020: HK$7,937,000)), US$13,425,000
(2020:US$625,000) (equivalent to approximately HK$104,668,000 (2020: HK$4,846,000)) and HK$5,109,000 (2020: HK$15,234,000),
respectively. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. However, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

19. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Prepayments 722 274
Receivable from disposal of an equity investment at

fair value through other comprehensive income 9,688 11,400
Rental deposit 342 395
Other receivables 31,503 12,183
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (note 27) – –

42,255 24,252

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Cash and bank balances 116,739 28,017
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20. LEASE LIABILITIES

Present value ofminimum

lease payments

The Group leases various properties to operate its offices and these lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not yet paid.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored within the
Group’s treasury function.

The total cash outflows for leases including payments of principal and interest portion of lease liabilities for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$2,401,000 (2020: HK$1,961,000).

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years

2,321
837

-

2,165
2,276
826

3,158 5,267
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months

shown under current liabilities (2,321) (2,165)

Amount due for settlement after 12months shown under non-current liabilities
837 3,102
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20. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

21. SHARE CAPITAL

Lease
liabilities

HK'000

At 1 January 2020
New leases entered

475
6,406

Repayment of lease liabilities (1,961)
Interest expenses 187
Exchange realignment 160

At 31 December 2020 5,267

Repayment of lease liabilities (2,401)
Interest expenses 206
Exchange realignment 86

At 31 December 2021 3,158

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Authorised:
100,000,000,000 ordinary shares (2020: 100,000,000,000 ordinary

shares) of HK$0.01 each

Issued and fully paid:
42,734,218,022 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

(2020: 42,716,118,022 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each)

1,000,000 1,000,000

427,342 427,161

A summary of the movements in the issued share capital of the Company is as follows:

Number of
shares
’000

Amount
HK$’000

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 42,716,118 427,161

Exercise of bonuswarrants (note (a)) 18,100 181

At 31 December 2021 42,734,218 427,342
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

On 18 February 2016, the Board proposed the bonus warrants (“Bonus Warrant”) issue to the qualifying shareholders on the basis
of two (2) Bonus Warrants for every five (5) existing shares held on the record date (“Bonus Warrant Issue”). Each Bonus Warrant
will entitle the holder thereof to subscribe in cash for one Bonus Warrant share at an initial subscription price of HK$0.0125, subject
to adjustment. The subscription rights attached to the Bonus Warrants will be exercisable from 29 March 2016, the date of issuance
until the close of business on 28 March 2021. 8,159,911,432 Bonus Warrants will be issued pursuant to the Bonus Warrants Issue.

On 29 March 2016, the Board announced a total of 8,159,911,432 Bonus Warrants are to be issued by the Company to the
shareholders pursuant to the Bonus Warrants Issue, represented by the bonus warrant certificates, conferring the subscription
rights, being the rights in their registered form to the bonus warrantholders to subscribe in cash for 8,159,911,432 Shares at
HK$101,998,893 at the initial subscription price of HK$0.0125 per bonus warrant share (subject to adjustments), during the
subscription period (i.e. the five-year period from the date of issue of the Warrants, 29 March 2016 to 28 March 2021, both days
inclusive). Any subscription rights which have not been exercised upon the expiry of the subscription period will lapse and the
bonus warrant certificate(s) shall cease to be valid for any purpose whatsoever.

At 31 December 2021, nil (2020: 6,283,350,568) Bonus Warrants remained outstanding.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
other payables and accruals, less cash and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an extra-ordinary general meeting of all the shareholders passed on 1 November 2010, a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) was adopted for the purpose of providing incentive to directors, employees and consultants. It was expired on 31
October 2020.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue, or if such 10% limit is refreshed, the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options grant and yet to be exercised under the Scheme must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company then issue, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Each grant of options to any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder must be approved by
independent non-executive directors. Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or any of their respective associates
would result in the shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of options already granted and to be granted in
excess of HK$5,000,000 in the 12 month period up to the date of grant, then the grant must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

On 18 May 2020, the Company granted 60,000,000 share options to a Director at the exercise price of HK$0.025 per share and are
vested and exercisable immediately. The closing share price at the date of grant on 18 May 2020 was HK$0.01. The fair values of
the share options granted in 2020 were determined using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. Significant inputs into the calculation
included expected volatilities of 92.22%, estimated expected life of 10 years, risk-free interest rate of 0.53% and dividend yield of
0%. The Binomial Option Pricing Model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options and requires input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected life and stock price volatility. Since the Company’s share options have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimates, the Binomial Option Pricing Model does not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the
fair value of the share options.
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted in 2020, measured at the date of grant, were approximately HK$366,000. As the options
are vested immediately, the amounts are recognised as share-based payment in profit or loss at the date of grant. An aggregate
amount of approximately HK$366,000 has been charged as directors’ remuneration during the year ended 31 December 2020. The
corresponding amount has been credited to the share option reserve. 60,000,000 share options held by an ex-Director lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

All share-based compensation will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the
options other than by issuing the Company’s ordinary shares.

Details of the options granted under the Scheme and outstanding at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Grantee Date of grant Exercise period

Number of share options

Exercise price
per share

option
HK$

Outstanding
as at

1 January
2021

Lapsed
during
the year

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Reclassified
during the

year

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2021

Executive directors

Xiang Xin 6 July 2014 6 July 2014-5 July 2024 120,000,000 – – – – 120,000,000 0.025

120,000,000 – – – – 120,000,000

Non-executive directors

Chan Cheong Yee 4 April 2018 4 April 2018-3 April 2028 120,000,000 – – – – 120,000,000 0.025

Independent

non-executive
directors

Wong Chung Kin 4 April 2018 4 April 2018-3 April 2028 60,000,000 – – – – 60,000,000 0.025
Quentin

Qin Han 18 May 2020 18 May 2020-17 May 2030 60,000,000 – – – – 60,000,000 0.025

120,000,000 – – – – 120,000,000

Others 6 July 2014 6 July 2014-5 July 2024 847,000,000 – – – – 847,000,000 0.025

1,207,000,000 – – – – 1,207,000,000
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

For share options outstanding at the end of the period, the weighted average remaining contractual lives is 3.4 years (2020: 4.4
years).

There was no share option exercised during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Grantee Date of grant Exercise period

Number of share options

Exercise price
per share

option
HK$

Outstanding
as at

1 January
2020

Lapsed
during
the year

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Reclassified
during the

year

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2020

Executive directors

Xiang Xin 6 July 2014 6 July 2014-5 July 2024 120,000,000 – – – – 120,000,000 0.025
Sun Kuan Chi 6 July 2014 6 July 2014-5 July 2024 60,000,000 – – – (60,000,000) – 0.025
An Jing 6 July 2014 6 July 2014-5 July 2024 60,000,000 (60,000,000) – – – – 0.025
Zhong Keying 1 December 2014 1 December 2014- 39,000,000 – – – (39,000,000) – 0.025

30 November 2024
Chan Cheong Yee 4 April 2018 4 April 2018-3 April 2028 120,000,000 – – – (120,000,000) – 0.025

399,000,000 (60,000,000) – – (219,000,000) 120,000,000

Non-executive directors

Chan Cheong Yee 4 April 2018 4 April 2018-3 April 2028 – – – – 120,000,000 120,000,000 0.025

Independent

non-executive
directors

Chen Yicheng 6 July 2014 6 July 2014-5 July 2024 60,000,000 – – – (60,000,000) – 0.025
Wong Chung Kin 4 April 2018 4 April 2018-3 April 2028 60,000,000 – – – – 60,000,000 0.025
Quentin

Qin Han 18 May 2020 18 May 2020-17 May 2030 – – 60,000,000 – – 60,000,000 0.025

120,000,000 – 60,000,000 – (60,000,000) 120,000,000

Others 6 July 2014 6 July 2014-5 July 2024 688,000,000 – – – 159,000,000 847,000,000 0.025

1,207,000,000 (60,000,000) 60,000,000 – – 1,207,000,000
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23. OTHER RESERVES

a. The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

b. Reserves of the Company

c. Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

(i) Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted to employees
of the Group recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents the exchange rates movements arising from the consolidation of Group entities with
different reporting currencies.

(iii) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued by the Company as consideration and the
underlying net assets of the then subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in relation to the listing of the shares of
the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 31 July 2002.

Share

Share
option Special Accumulated

Premium reserve reserve losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

1 January 2020 298,065 10,448 14,879 (641,365) (317,973)
Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Share-base payments
Lapseof share options

–
–
–

–
366

(726)

–
–
–

(9,593)
–

726

(9,593)
366

–

31 December 2020 298,065 10,088 14,879 (650,232) (327,200)
Total comprehensive expense
for the year – – – (10,539) (10.539)
Exercise of bonus warrants 45 – – – 45

At 31 December 2021 298,110 10,088 14,879 (660,771) (337,694)
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23. OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

c. Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group (Continued)

(iv) Capital reserve

The Company had made a capital contribution to a subsidiary but no equivalent capital was injected by the non-controlling interest.
Capital reserve represents the difference between the capital injected by the Company and the adjustment of non-controlling
interest.

(v) Special reserve and share premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the special reserve and share premium account is available for
distribution to shareholders subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company and no distribution may be paid
to shareholders out of the special reserve and share premium account unless, immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

24. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(i) Save as those disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

Notes:

New Era Group (China) Limited and New Era Foundation (China) Limited are companies of which Mr. Xiang Xin has control.

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Intangible asset contracted but not provided for – 15,000

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

New Era Group (China) Limited Note

Rental paid 960 960
Rental deposit paid 160 160

New Era Foundation (China) Limited Note
Rental paid 1,433 1,253
Rental deposit paid 182 235
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(ii) Compensation of key management personnel:

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 628 638

Pension scheme contributions – –
Share-based payments – 366

628 1,004

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities with a floating interest rate. The Group’s results and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in a market interest rate.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities in RMB and HK$. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Financial assets:
Financial assets at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents)

Financial liabilities:
At amortised cost

212,790 100,177

100,004 605
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances
based on provision matrix through grouping of various debtors that have similar credit risk characteristics based on nature and
industry of debtors. Internal credit rating has been given to each category of debtors after considering aging, historical observed
default rates, repayment history and past due status of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on probability of
default and loss given default with reference to an external credit report and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort and trade balances with credit impaired were assessment
individually. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Other receivables

The Group assessed the impairment for its other receivables based on internal credit rating of these debtors which, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, has no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Estimated loss rate is based on
probability of default and loss given default with reference to market data and is adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Cash and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agency. The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks
with high credit ratings.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk as at 31 December 2021 on trade receivables from the Group’s five major
customers accounted for 100% (2020: 100%) of the trade receivables. The major customers of the Group are recognised and
creditworthy third parties. The directors of the Company consider that the credit risk is limited in this regard.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating Description Trade receivables

Other
financial assets/
other items

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk
of default and may have past
due amounts but usually
settle after due date

Lifetime ECL – not
credit-impaired

12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL – not
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – not
credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL –
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL –
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

1. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the credit loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The

Group determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix.

2. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses the past-due information to assess whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition. The balance of other receivables has been past due and is not considered as in default as there has not

been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts is still considered recoverable.

For the assessment of lifetime ECL for trade receivables by management, the estimated loss rates are based on probability of
default and loss given default with reference to an external credit report and are adjusted for forwardlooking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

The Group’s credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings and good
reputation.

The credit risk of trade receivables and other receivables is managed through an internal process. The credit quality of each
counterparty is investigated before an advance is made. The Group also actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed by
each debtor and identifies any credit risks in a timely manner in order to reduce the risk of a credit related loss. The Group reviews
the recoverable amount of these receivables at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no trade receivables are past due or considered to be credit-impaired and no credit loss
allowance was made during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

External
credit

Internal
credit

Gross carrying
amount

Notes rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL 2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

Financial assets at
amortised cost

Trade receivables 16 N/A Low risk (Note 1) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 54,736 48,182

Other receivables 17 N/A Low risk (Note 2) 12-month ECL 41,522 23,978

Cash and bank balances 18 Ba1 to A1 N/A 12-month ECL 116,739 28,017

Notes:
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of allowance for expected credit losses that has been recognised for other receivables.

At 1 January 2020
Write-off

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021

Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount

Average loss
rate
%

Trade receivables
HK$’000

2021 2020 2021 2020

Internal credit rating
Low risk 0 0 54,736 48,182

-

3,000

(3,000)

12-months 
ECL

HK$'000
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table detailed the contractual maturity of the Group for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flow of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
amounts represented both interest and principal cash flow.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

At 31 December 2021
Weighted

average
interest

rate
%

On demand
or less than

3 months
HK$’000

3 months
to 1 year
HK$’000

1-2 years
HK$’000

2-5 years
HK$’000

Total
undiscounted

cash flow
HK$’000

Total
carrying
amount
HK$’000

Other payables and accruals
Amount due to a shareholder

–
–

676
99,328

–
–

–
–

–
–

676
99,328

676
99,328

Lease liabilities 5.0 670 1,737 843 – 3,250 3,158

100,674 1,737 843 – 103,254 103,162

At 31 December 2020
Weighted
average

On demand
or less than 3 months

Total
undiscounted

Total
carrying

interest rate 3 months to 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flow amount
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables and accruals – 605 – – – 605 605
Lease liabilities 5.0 592 1,777 2,369 832 5,570 5,267

1,197 1,777 2,369 832 6,175 5,872

Fair value
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28. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Approved by the Board of Directors on [Date] 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Xiang Xin Chan Cheong Yee
Director Director

2021
HK$’000

2020
HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment –
Right-of-use assets 1,352 2,246
Intangible assets - –
Other non-current asset - 15,000
Interests in subsidiaries 67,365 53,247

Total non-current assets 68,717 70,493

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 10,568 12,497
Cash and bank balances 111,180 19,727

Total current assets 121,748 32,224

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 99,427 495
Lease liabilities 915 871

Total current liabilities 100,342 1,366

Net current assets 21,406 30,858

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 90,123 101,351

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Lease liabilities 475 1,390

NET ASSETS 89,648 99,961

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 427,342 427,161
Other reserves (337,694) (327,200)

TOTAL EQUITY 89,648 99,961
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
a. Disposal of Boss Education Limited (“Boss Education”)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Boss Education for a cash consideration of
HK$1 to MPH Foundation. The chairman of MPH Foundation is an employee of a subsidiary of Full Smart Asia Limited, which was disposed
of by the Group in 2019. The disposal of Boss Education was completed on 6 August 2020.

Note HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment 11 –

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 2

2

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (2)

–

Satisfied by cash –*

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal al of Boss Education is as
follows:

HK$’000

Cash consideration and inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary –*

* Less than HK$1,000
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

b. Disposal of Boss Power Limited (“Boss Power”)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Boss Power for a cash
consideration of HK$1 to MPH Foundation. The chairman of MPH Foundation is an employee of a subsidiary of Full Smart
Asia Limited, which was disposed of by the Group in 2019. The disposal of Boss Power was completed on 6 August 2020.

* Less than HK$1,000

HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 23
Cash and cash equivalents
Amount due to the Company

890
(890)

23
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (23)

–

Satisfied by cash –*

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal al of Boss Power is as
follows:

HK$’000

Cash consideration
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of

–*
(890)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary (890)
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

In The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the above scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes at the lower of HK$1,500 per
month or 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme. The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$35,000 (2020:
HK$18,000) represents contributions paid or payable to the above scheme by the Group for the year.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution retirement scheme organised by the government in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of the payroll of its employees to the retirement
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement
scheme. The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$37,000 (2020: HK$15,000) represents contributions paid or payable to the
above scheme by the Group for the year.

During the year, there were no forfeited contributions which arose upon employees leaving the above schemes prior to their
interests in the Group’s contribution becoming fully vested and which are available to reduce the contributions payable by the
Group in future years.

31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The rise in new infections of COVID-19 since the second half of 2021 leading to more travel restrictions and lockdowns has brought
additional uncertainties in the global macroeconomic situation which may affect the Group’s financial performance. However, since
the outburst is a fluid and challenging situation facing all the industries globally, the degree of impact could not be reasonably
estimated at this stage. The Group will closely monitor the development of the outburst and assess its impact on the financial
position and operating results of the Group. The Group does not have other significant subsequent events.

32. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27th May 2022.
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